BiTEs and CAR-Ts: Immunotherapy in Childhood B-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

by

Rana Hany Besada

B.S. Molecular, Cell, & Developmental Biology with a Minor in Biomedical Research

University of California, Los Angeles, 2015



ARCHIVES

SUBMITTED TO THE DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE IN BIOLOGY
AT THE
MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

FEBRUARY 2018

© 2018 Massachusetts Institute of Technology. All rights reserved.

The author hereby grands to MIT permission to reproduce and to distribute publicly paper and electronic copies of this thesis document in whole or in part in any medium now known or hereafter created.

Signature redacted

Signature of Author:	
_	Department of Biology
	October 31, 2017
Signature redacted	
	Michael T. Hemann
As	ssociate Professor of Biology
2	Thesis Supervisor
Signature redacted	
Accepted by:	
	Amy Keating
	and Biological Engineering
Director	, Biology Graduate Program

BiTEs and CAR-Ts: Immunotherapy in Childhood B-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

by

Rana Hany Besada

Submitted to the Department of Biology on October 31, 2017 in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Biology

ABSTRACT

B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia is the most common pediatric cancer, responsible for the most cancer-related deaths in children. Advances in chemotherapy over the past half-century have steadily increased the remission and survival of children with B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia to nearly 90%. However, the problems of minimal residual disease and relapsed and refractory disease persist. Personalized, targeted therapies have improved outcomes among the minority of patients for whom chemotherapy is ineffective. Immunotherapy, specifically bispecific T-cell engaging antibody therapy and chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy, has proven an effective treatment for relapsed and refractory B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia in children. These new modalities, however, have also introduced new adverse side effects to the treatment regimen. Though immunotherapy has increased remission and survival, more work must be done to reduce adverse effects and eliminate relapsed and refractory disease.

Thesis Supervisor: Michael T. Hemann Title: Associate Professor of Biology

Table of Contents

I. Introduction	4
II. Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia	5
a. Etiology & Prognosis	
b. Limitations of Conventional Therapy	
III.Immunotherapy	9
a. T-Cell Activation	
b. BiTEs	
c. CAR T-Cell Therapy	
d. Limitations of Immunotherapy	
IV. Conclusion	16
References	18
Acknowledgements	22

I. Introduction

First described in 1913 in the New York Times as "acute lymphatic leukemia" (Bakalar 2012), acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) is a malignancy of the blood that occurs when lymphoid progenitor cells transform and proliferate, overtaking the bone marrow, blood, and extramedullary sites (Terwilliger and Abdul-Hay 2017). Though its incidence is bimodal, with one peak in children and another peak in adults above age 50, ALL is the most common pediatric cancer, with 80% of ALL occurring in children ("Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2013 - Previous Version - SEER Cancer Statistics Review" n.d.). Historically a fatal disease, survival rates for childhood ALL have increased dramatically over the past 50 years, from a mere 20% in 1961 to 90% today (Pui and Evans 2013) . Despite advances in our understanding of the biology of ALL and resulting improvement of treatment regimens, ALL persists as the most common cause of cancer-related deaths in children (Holmfeldt et al. 2013).

Improvements in ALL treatment over the decades have been consistent and significant. Aminopterin, a folic acid antagonist, was the first treatment to achieve "temporary remissions" in ALL patients in the mid-20th century (Farber and Diamond 1948). Although this initial trial was small and the results were modest, it stands as the pioneering use of chemotherapy to treat childhood ALL (Pui and Evans 2013). In 1962, researchers at St. Jude Children's Research Hospital established what stands to this day as the "backbone" of ALL treatment (Pinkel 1971). Their "total therapy" regimen consisted of three components: remission induction, intensification/consolidation, and continuation/maintenance therapy. Subsequent modifications on this treatment protocol nearly doubled cure rates in the following two decades, with steady improvement in outcome into the 21st century.

With continued advances in our understanding of the biology of ALL, the problem of precisely defining the disease in all its manifestations has become more complex, but the advances in treatment likewise have become more nuanced and personalized to each subtype. Significant as these improvements are, the problem of relapsed and refractory disease remains. Here, we will examine the etiology and current treatment regimens for childhood B-cell ALL as well as recent advances in immunotherapy, specifically bispecific T-cell engaging antibody therapy and chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy.

II. Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia

a. Etiology & Prognosis

Like most cancers, ALL is a heterogeneous malignancy without a single common causative transforming event. Transformed cells are of the lymphoid lineage, with cells that normally differentiate from lymphoid stem cells to B- and T-lymphoblasts and eventually mature into B- and T-lymphocytes. B-cell ALL manifests as an accumulation of malignant, immature B-cells in the blood, bone marrow, and extramedullary tissue. Though researchers have identified many chromosomal aberrations necessary for transformation (discussed in detail below), a combination of exposures, inherited genetic variation, and chance probably contribute to disease initiation. Studies on exposure to radiation *in utero* or later weakly correlate with a greater risk for developing ALL, but these studies have not been reproducible (Inaba, Greaves, and Mullighan 2013). Certain genetic syndromes (Down syndrome, Fanconi anemia, Bloom syndrome, ataxia telangiectasia, and Nijmegen breakdown syndrome) increase the risk for developing ALL (Terwilliger and Abdul-Hay 2017). Genome-wide association studies

have identified germline allelic variants in four genes that significantly associate with childhood ALL. These genes (*IKZF1*, *ARID5B*, *CEBPE*, and *CDKN2A*) encode regulators of lymphocyte differentiation and proliferation (Papaemmanuil et al. 2009; Sherborne et al. 2010). Despite its heterogeneity, there are common subtypes of B-cell ALL whose genetic lesions have been identified and studied.

Aneuploidy was one of the first cytogenetic aberrations identified in B-cell ALL and serves as a means of risk stratification in patients. Patients with hypodiploid B-cell ALL are known to be a high-risk subgroup, but hypodiploidy itself can be further stratified according to the number of chromosomes. Disease can be classified as near haploid (24-31 chromosomes), low-hypodiploid (32-39 chromosomes), or high-hypodiploid (40-43 chromosomes), though this is a rare subgroup (Pui and Evans 2013). While hypodiploidy describes many thousands of genetic changes, these classifications do not distinguish between "driver" mutations in leukemogeneis and "passenger" mutations that accumulate after transformation (Pui et al. 2011). Genome-wide studies revealed that each class of hypodiploidy has a unique genetic basis for disease. Alterations in receptor tyrosine kinase signaling and Ras signaling characterize near-haploid disease while alterations in TP53 and RB1 characterize low-hypodiploid disease (Holmfeldt et al. 2013).

Chromosomal translocations have been most telling about the mechanism of disease initiation, though each alone are not sufficient to generate leukemia (Terwilliger & Abdul-Hay 2017). One famous chromosomal translocation, first reported in 1970, is the Philadelphia chromosome, resulting in the BCR-ABL fusion protein (Propp and Lizzi 1970). Normally a tightly regulated tyrosine protein kinase, ABL becomes constitutively active when fused with BCR. The fusion protein leads to aberrant proliferation and

promotes survival and self-renewal. Another common fusion protein is TEL-AML1. Made of TEL, an ETS family transcription factor required for homing lymphoid cells to the bone marrow, and AML1, the DNA-binding subunit of core-binding factor that recruits transcription factors to activate Hox genes, this fusion protein inhibits transcription, leading to altered self-renewal, proliferation, and differentiation in lymphoid cells (Loh and Rubnitz 2002). Most deadly are diseases carrying an MLL-fusion protein. MLL is a nuclear protein responsible for maintaining expression of certain HOX genes. Fusion with one of its 40 known partners yields a dominant gain-of-function protein that enhances HOX transcription (Ernst, Wang, and Korsmeyer 2002). Over 80% of infants with B-cell ALL harbor an MLL-fusion protein.

Clinically, symptoms of ALL can be nonspecific but result from malignant lymphoid progenitor cells accumulating in the blood, bone marrow, and extramedullary sites (Terwilliger and Abdul-Hay 2017). Signs of bone marrow failure include anemia, thrombocytopenia, and leukopenia. ALL cells in extramedullary sites cause lymphadenopathy, splenomegaly, or hepatomegaly. Their presence in the CNS presents as cranial nerve deficits or meningismus. In addition to these symptoms, patients also experience fever, weight loss, and night sweats (together referred to as 'B symptoms') as well as fatigue, dyspnea, and easy bleeding or bruising. Clinicians diagnose ALL when the patient harbors at least 20% lymphoblasts in the bone marrow or peripheral blood (Alvarnas et al. 2015). Following initial diagnosis, clinicians further characterize the disease using flow cytometry, immunophenotyping, and cytogenetic testing to assess the patient's risk and determine the best method for treatment.

As previously mentioned, the standard of care for B-cell ALL is a chemotherapy regimen first established in the 1960s. Induction of remission,

intensification/consolidation, and continuation/maintenance therapy typically span two to two-and-a-half years. Patient response depends both on biological features of their disease and patient-specific pharmacokinetics (Inaba, Greaves, and Mullighan 2013). Some patients, for example, carry one or two nonfunctional copies of the thiopurine methyltransferase gene. Thiopurine methyltransferase is necessary to metabolize mercaptopurine, a chemotherapeutic agent. Without this metabolism, normal mercaptopurine doses put patients at greater risk for hematopoietic toxicity. Recognizing this pitfall, clinicians began assigning individualized dosing to patients with this genetic variation, to great success (Pui and Evans 2013). Personalized treatment went a step further when the tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib (and later, dasatinib) was incorporated into frontline therapy to treat Philadelphia-chromosome-positive B-cell ALL (Schultz et al. 2009). This subtype, once associated with a poor prognosis, now boasts complete remission rates greater than 90%, attesting to the efficacy of personalized treatment.

b. Limitations of Conventional Therapy

Cure rates in children have increased steady over the last half-century, but those whose disease relapses have a prognosis that has not changed at the same pace. Although complete remission rates have approached 90%, the remaining 10% of pediatric patients whose disease is relapsed or is refractory to treatment have not had many options for more effective treatment (Pierro et al. 2017). The approach to treat relapsed and refractory B-cell ALL is unimaginative: reinduction is usually more of the same chemotherapeutic drugs but in a modified schedule or more intense dose (Pierro et al. 2017). The aim of reinduction therapy, however, is not to cure the patient, but to induce remission for long enough to make them eligible for an allogenic hematopoietic

cell transplantation (Luskin and DeAngelo 2017). Unfortunately, even this final line of attack is ineffective, and many patients who receive transplants have poor outcomes.

Relapsed or refractory disease arises from a Darwinian selection driven by the chemotherapeutic agents themselves. Studies comparing the B-cell ALL clones present at diagnosis to those present at relapse have shown that 94% of relapsed clones arose from a clone present at diagnosis and not from a newly initiated disease (Mullighan et al. 2008). Minimal residual disease that survives the initial treatment regimen may carry mutations that confers resistance to chemotherapy. Relapsed clones can be resistant glucocorticoids via mutations in genes involved in glucocorticoid signaling like NR3C1, BTG1, and TBL1XR1 (Klumper et al. 1995). Other mutations—like MSH6 and NT5C2—have been associated with resistance to thiopurines (Pierro et al. 2017). Resistance to these chemotherapeutic agents demonstrates the selective pressure these agents place on disease.

Reinduction therapy is unsuccessful not only because of intrinsic resistance to the chemotherapeutic agents but also because of the toxicity associated with this aggressive treatment. Increasing dose may have modest effects on disease burden, but eventually mortality due to toxicity will supersede the disease as the cause of death (Biondi et al. 2017). Immunotherapy is a promising alternative approach to fighting relapsed and refractory disease.

III. Immunotherapy

With both innate and adaptive arms, the immune system has evolved to both generally and specifically defend against infection. As efficient and complex as the adaptive immune system is, it is not above manipulation. Immunotherapy capitalizes on

the adaptive immune system, either by enhancing the natural cellular response against cancer cells or by synthetically targeting immune cells to destroy cancer cells. In the crusade against ALL, the synthetic approach has yielded promising results by commandeering T lymphocytes in a manner that bypasses their natural limitations but exploits their natural activity.

a. T-Cell Activation

T lymphocytes, or T-cells, are part of the adaptive immune system, patrolling the body for foreign antigens and leading multi-cell crusade of eliminating infected cells. Tcell receptors on the surface of T-cells recognize peptide antigens presented by the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) protein at the surface of somatic cells. All nucleated cells express MHC class I, which presents endogenous antigens at the cell surface. CD8+ T-cells, known as cytotoxic T-cells, recognize MHC class I and their associated antigens. Only professional antigen-presenting cells express MHC class II, which presents exogenous antigens, indicating infection. CD4+ T-cells, known as helper or regulatory T-cells, recognize MHC class II and their associated antigens. MHC recognition by the T-cell receptor, however, is not sufficient to activate a T-cell. Naïve Tcells require a co-stimulatory molecule (CD28) to also engage with the antigenpresenting cell. Without this second signal, T-cells are susceptible to anergy, or desensitization to the antigen. Engagement of the MHC with the T-cell receptor and the co-stimulatory molecule creates an immune synapse. The T-cell receptor and the costimulatory molecule come into close proximity to one another, initiating a cascade of intracellular signaling that leads to T-cell activation (Owen et al. 2009).

Once activated, T-cells undergo clonal expansion and differentiation, ultimately maturing into their full effector functions. Immediately after activation, both CD4+ and

CD8+ T-cells secrete cytokines that aid in the subsequent immune response and in T-cell maturation. Cytokines released by CD4+ helper T-cells stimulate clonal expansion of the T-cell and recruit and activate other immune cells to kill target cells. Cytokines released by CD8+ cytotoxic T-cells stimulate clonal T-cell expansion, and target cell killing, as well as the recruitment and activation of other immune cells to kill target cells. Thus, T-cells defend the body in two ways: by regulating effector response from other immune cells and by directly attacking target cells (Owen et al. 2009).

b. BiTEs

A bispecific T-cell engaging antibody (BiTE) engages T-cells to destroy ALL cells by physically juxtaposing T-cells and ALL cells and activating the T-cells. Made up of the variable antigen-binding domains of two antibodies linked by a peptide, BiTEs capitalize on the high affinity and avidity of antibodies to their antigens (Ribera et al. 2015). Blinatumomab, a BiTE from Amgen Inc currently used to treat relapsed or refractory ALL, binds T-cells with an anti-CD3 arm and ALL cells with its anti-CD19 arm. CD19 is expressed by all B cells. Unlike with the natural T-cell response described above, CD19 does not need to be presented by the MHC for the T-cell to be activated. By forcing the ALL cells and T-cells into such close proximity, Blinatumomab leads to the formation of an immune synapse and hence the destruction of the ALL cell (Aldoss et al. 2017).

In practice, Blinatumomab is an effective therapeutic modality both because of its function and because of its structure. Because its function is based on highly specific antibody-antigen binding, Blinatumomab is clinically efficacious at picomolar concentrations (Nagorsen et al. 2012). In addition, because its mechanism of action relies on T-cell activation, Blinatumomab's effects are increased by signal amplification from the T-cell receptor (Aldross et al 2017). Not only is it mechanistically potent, but its

structure makes it especially practical in the clinic. Because Blinatumomab is made up of two variable antigen-binding regions and a peptide linker, it is about one-third the size of an antibody (Nagorsen et al. 2012). Its minuscule size means that Blinatumomab has a short serum half-life. Though its rapid clearance means it must be administered by continuous intravenous infusion, it also gives clinicians the flexibility to halt treatment should the side effects be particularly dangerous.

Administration of Blintumomab yields results that logically flow from the T-cell activation theory. Although levels of circulating B- and T-cell drop immediately after initial infusion (Zhu et al. 2017), effector T-cell levels exceed normal levels within a few days. Levels of both CD4+ and CD8+ effector T-cells increase, but levels of naïve T-cells remain stagnant. This is not surprising since Blintumomab is facilitating the activation and subsequent clonal expansion and differentiation of T-cells. Also not surprising is the hypogammaglobulinemia that follows treatment. Blintumomab targets T-cells toward any CD19-expressing cells, which are not only B-cell ALL but also normal B lymphocytes and plasma precursors. Though expected, this effect puts patients at greater risk for infection because although naïve B cells recover from this depletion, mature B cells and plasma cells do not (Zugmaier et al. 2014).

Blintumomab is effective at treating relapsed and refractory B-cell ALL in children, as demonstrated by clinical trials. In one trial, 39% of patients achieved complete remission and 52% of those patients tested negatively for minimal residual disease (von Stackelberg et al. 2016). However, the efficacy of Blintumomab comes at a cost. Two major adverse effect of Blintumomab treatment are cytokine release syndrome and neurotoxicity (Aldoss et al. 2017). Patients with high leukemic burden at initiation of treatment were more likely to experience cytokine release syndrome, but pretreatment

with dexamethasone proved an effective prophylaxis (Topp et al. 2014). Neurotoxicity presented in adult patients more frequently than in children and could likewise be mitigated using dexamethasone. Thus although side effects of Blintumomab are not mild, they are manageable.

c. CAR T-Cell Therapy

Like BiTEs, chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cells use antibody affinity to CD19 to juxtapose T-cells and B-cell ALL cells. The T-cells involved in this interaction, unlike with BiTEs, are themselves genetically modified to exclusively target CD19. Rather than rely on the T-cell receptor recognizing an antigen presented by MHC, CARs replace the extracellular domain of the T-cell receptor with the single-chain variable fragment of a monoclonal antibody targeting CD19. The transmembrane and intracellular portions of the T-cell receptor are unaltered, but CAR T-cells also express a co-stimulatory domain, either 4-1BB or CD28. Though the extracellular single-chain variable fragment is sufficient to bring the T-cell and target cell into close proximity, the co-stimulatory domain is necessary for T-cell activation, expansion, and persistence (Savoldo et al. 2011; Campana, Schwarz, and Imai 2014). These T-cells are isolated from the patient by leukapheresis, transduced with the CAR vector, expanded, then re-infused into the patient a few weeks later (Aldoss et al. 2017).

Complete remission rates in pediatric patients with refractory and relapsed B-cell ALL treated with CAR T-cell therapy far exceed those achieved by Blintumomab. The most successful trial to date was a collaboration between the University of Pennsylvania, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, and Novartis using their recently FDA-approved CTL019 CAR T-cell therapy (Grupp et al. 2015). This trial was conducted on 30 high-risk patients, 25 of whom were children. Only 3 of the patients enrolled in this trial had

primary refractory disease: 18 patients had relapsed after allogenic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation and three patients were refractory to blinatumomab. Despite these seemingly impossible hurdles, CTL019 achieved complete remission in 90% of the patients. Even more impressive, 15 of the patients who went into complete remission did not receive further therapy (Maude et al. 2014).

As remarkable as the final results were, the patients experienced serious toxicities during treatment. Just as with Blintumomab, the main adverse effects of CAR T-cell therapy are cytokine release syndrome and neurotoxicity. Most patients experienced mild symptoms of cytokine release syndrome within the first 2 weeks of treatment.

These symptoms were successfully mitigated using fluids and antipyretics (Luskin and DeAngelo 2017). Some patients, however, experienced more severe symptoms including high fever, respiratory distress, and organ failure (Maude et al. 2014). Neurotoxicity, manifesting as confusion, is another result of cytokine release syndrome. Though neurotoxicity is usually manageable, one CAR T trial by Juno Therapeutics reported a fatal cerebral edema and herniation (Keshavan and Garde 2016). The question of why Juno Therapeutics' CAR T therapy yielded such an extreme adverse event where as Novartis' CAR T therapy did not remains unanswered.

d. Limitations of Immunotherapy

Despite its unique approach to treating patients with relapsed and refractory B-cell ALL, immunotherapy in its current state is not the saving grace for all patients. Both Blinatumomab and CAR T-cell therapy yield better outcomes for patients who at the start of treatment had lower leukemia burden (Aldoss et al. 2017). Even when the therapy is effective for patients with particularly aggressive disease, relapse following immunotherapy can present as a new disease. The specificity of Blinatumomab and CAR

T-cell therapy is a double-edged sword, simultaneously allowing for a strong targeted attack but limiting the effort to attacking only CD19+ cells. B-cell ALL's heterogeneity and propensity to mutate persist as challenges to therapy.

In the case of Blinatumomab, relapse has been linked both to limitations of its own activity as well as to a changing disease profile. B-cell ALL presents in the bone marrow, blood, and extramedullary sites, and while Blinatumomab is effective at eliminating disease in the blood and bone marrow, it has been observed to have less activity in extramedullary sites (Topp et al. 2014). Consequently, in patients who relapse following Blinatumomab treatment, extramedullary relapse is over-represented. Even when Blinatumomab is effective in all sites of disease burden, the disease itself may become resistant to the treatment. In 10-15% of relapse cases following Blinatumomab, relapsed disease was CD19-negative (Topp et al. 2012). One study described a patient who received Blinatumomab treatment twice, relapsing after both instances. Following the second relapse after Blinatumomab, her disease had lost nearly all B-cell markers including CD19, manifesting instead with a myeloid phenotype (Zoghbi et al. 2017). As was the case with chemotherapy resistance, the selective pressure of Blinatumomab resulted in a disease totally resistant to the treatment.

CAR T-cell therapy shares some limitations with Blinatumomab and has its own unique drawbacks. Just like Blinatumomab, CAR T-cell therapy exclusively targets CD19-expressing cells, making the treatment ineffective against CD19- ALL. Investigators at the National Cancer Institute are tackling this hurdle head-on by developing CAR T-cells bearing anti-CD22 single-chain variable fragment. CD22, another B-cell-specific antigen, has proven to be an effective means of targeting CD19-

ALL. In a trial with relapsed pediatric patients, the majority of whom had relapsed following anti-CD19 CAR T-cell therapy and harbored CD19 disease, anti-CD22 CAR T-cell therapy resulted in minimal residual disease-negative complete remission in 8 out of 10 participants (Shah et al. 2016). The CAR T modality thus lends itself to modification depending on the patient's needs. However, this property can also be limiting: because CAR T-cells must be produced anew for each patient, treatment for this rapidly progressing and rapidly mutating disease is not immediate. In addition to keeping patients stable as they await their CAR T-cell infusion, hospitals also bear the burden of the intensive care required when patients inevitably experience the adverse effects associated with CAR T-cell therapy. Though these drawbacks make CAR T-cell therapy an expensive and risky treatment option, the results speak for themselves.

IV. Conclusion

Childhood B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia has been steadily approaching a cure over the past half century of biological research and treatment advancements. Though frontline therapy has persisted as the cause of remission for most patients, the small fraction of pediatric patients with relapsed or refractory disease have a growing number of treatment options that target their unique malignancy. Advancements in immunotherapy through the development of bispecific T-cell engaging antibodies and chimeric antigen receptor T cell therapy have extended the lifespans of patients who less than a decade ago would have had a dire prognosis. As researchers continue to refine their understanding of the biology of this complex disease and concurrently refine their

treatment strategies, patients can look forward not only to longer survival, but to less toxicity during therapy.

Remission and survival rates of patients treated with BiTEs or CAR T-cell therapy are promising, but there is much room for improvement in both of these modalities. Currently, both Blinatumomab and anti-CD19 CAR T-cell therapy are approved for use only in patients with relapsed or refractory disease. However, both of these modalities function through mechanisms distinct from frontline chemotherapy and could therefore potentially work synergistically with frontline therapy if administered early on. There is an ongoing phase II clinical trial (NCTo2143414) assessing the efficacy of chemotherapy, Blinatumomab, and dasatinib combination therapy in geriatric patients with B-cell ALL. The drawback of administering immunotherapy early on is the potentially unnecessary risk of severe toxicity (cytokine release syndrome. neurotoxicity) associated with these modalities in addition to the toxicity patients experience with chemotherapy alone. While it is preemptive to suggest that immunotherapy be administered as frontline therapy for all patients, further refinement of patient risk stratification can help clinicians predict the progression of disease and appropriately weigh the risk of adverse events with the potential for remission without relapse. For example, one issue with CAR T-cell therapy is the length of time patients must wait for their cells to be ready for infusion. Perhaps more accurate risk stratification could eventually lead clinicians to preemptively collect and engineer T cells from a patient likely to relapse following frontline therapy. This future may not be far off given the pace of advancement and motivation to finally cure ALL.

References

- Aldoss, I., R. C. Bargou, D. Nagorsen, G. R. Friberg, P. A. Baeuerle, and S. J. Forman. 2017. "Redirecting T Cells to Eradicate B-Cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: Bispecific T-Cell Engagers and Chimeric Antigen Receptors." *Leukemia* 31 (4):777–87. https://doi.org/10.1038/leu.2016.391.
- Alvarnas, Joseph C., Patrick A. Brown, Patricia Aoun, Karen Kuhn Ballen, Stefan K. Barta, Uma Borate, Michael W. Boyer, et al. 2015. "Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia, Version 2.2015." *Journal of the National Comprehensive Cancer Network: JNCCN* 13 (10):1240–79.
- Bakalar, Nicholas. 2012. "Leukemia, 1899." New York Times, June 5, 2012.
- Biondi, Andrea, Chiara F. Magnani, Sarah Tettamanti, Giuseppe Gaipa, and Ettore Biagi. 2017. "Redirecting T Cells with Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) for the Treatment of Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia." *Journal of Autoimmunity*, August. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaut.2017.08.003.
- Campana, Dario, Herbert Schwarz, and Chihaya Imai. 2014. "4-1BB Chimeric Antigen Receptors." *Cancer Journal (Sudbury, Mass.)* 20 (2):134–40. https://doi.org/10.1097/PPO.000000000000028.
- "Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2013 Previous Version SEER Cancer Statistics Review." n.d. Accessed October 30, 2017. https://seer.cancer.gov/archive/csr/1975_2013/.
- Ernst, Patricia, Jing Wang, and Stanley J. Korsmeyer. 2002. "The Role of MLL in Hematopoiesis and Leukemia." *Current Opinion in Hematology* 9 (4):282–87.
- Farber, S., and L. K. Diamond. 1948. "Temporary Remissions in Acute Leukemia in Children Produced by Folic Acid Antagonist, 4-Aminopteroyl-Glutamic Acid." *The New England Journal of Medicine* 238 (23):787–93. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM194806032382301.
- Grupp, Stephan A., Shannon L. Maude, Pamela A. Shaw, Richard Aplenc, David M. Barrett, Colleen Callahan, Simon F. Lacey, et al. 2015. "Durable Remissions in Children with Relapsed/Refractory ALL Treated with T Cells Engineered with a CD19-Targeted Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CTL019)." Blood 126 (23):681–681.
- Holmfeldt, Linda, Lei Wei, Ernesto Diaz-Flores, Michael Walsh, Jinghui Zhang, Li Ding, Debbie Payne-Turner, et al. 2013. "The Genomic Landscape of Hypodiploid Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia." *Nature Genetics* 45 (3):242–52. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.2532.
- Inaba, Hiroto, Mel Greaves, and Charles G. Mullighan. 2013. "Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia." *Lancet (London, England)* 381 (9881):1943–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62187-4.
- Keshavan, Meghana, and Damian Garde. 2016. "Juno Halts Immunotherapy Trial for Cancer after Patient Deaths." July 7, 2016.
 - https://www.statnews.com/2016/07/07/juno-cancer-immunotherapy-deaths/.
- Klumper, E., R. Pieters, A. J. Veerman, D. R. Huismans, A. H. Loonen, K. Hählen, G. J. Kaspers, E. R. van Wering, R. Hartmann, and G. Henze. 1995. "In Vitro Cellular Drug Resistance in Children with Relapsed/Refractory Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia." *Blood* 86 (10):3861–68.

- Loh, Mignon L., and Jeffrey E. Rubnitz. 2002. "TEL/AML1-Positive Pediatric Leukemia: Prognostic Significance and Therapeutic Approaches." *Current Opinion in Hematology* 9 (4):345–52.
- Luskin, Marlise R., and Daniel J. DeAngelo. 2017. "Chimeric Antigen Receptor Therapy in Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Clinical Practice." *Current Hematologic Malignancy Reports*, June. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11899-017-0394-x.
- Maude, Shannon L., Noelle Frey, Pamela A. Shaw, Richard Aplenc, David M. Barrett, Nancy J. Bunin, Anne Chew, et al. 2014. "Chimeric Antigen Receptor T Cells for Sustained Remissions in Leukemia." *The New England Journal of Medicine* 371 (16):1507–17. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1407222.
- Mullighan, Charles G., Letha A. Phillips, Xiaoping Su, Jing Ma, Christopher B. Miller, Sheila A. Shurtleff, and James R. Downing. 2008. "Genomic Analysis of the Clonal Origins of Relapsed Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia." *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 322 (5906):1377–80. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1164266.
- Nagorsen, Dirk, Peter Kufer, Patrick A. Baeuerle, and Ralf Bargou. 2012. "Blinatumomab: A Historical Perspective." *Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 136 (3):334–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2012.07.013.
- Owen, Judith, Jenni Punt, Sharon Stranford, and Patricia Jones. 2009. *Kuby Immunology*. 7th ed. W.H. Freeman and Company.
- Papaemmanuil, Elli, Fay J. Hosking, Jayaram Vijayakrishnan, Amy Price, Bianca Olver, Eammon Sheridan, Sally E. Kinsey, et al. 2009. "Loci on 7p12.2, 10q21.2 and 14q11.2 Are Associated with Risk of Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia." *Nature Genetics* 41 (9):1006–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.430.
- Pierro, Joanna, Laura E. Hogan, Teena Bhatla, and William L. Carroll. 2017. "New Targeted Therapies for Relapsed Pediatric Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia." Expert Review of Anticancer Therapy 17 (8):725–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/14737140.2017.1347507.
- Pinkel, D. 1971. "Five-Year Follow-up of 'Total Therapy' of Childhood Lymphocytic Leukemia." *JAMA* 216 (4):648–52.
- Propp, S., and F. A. Lizzi. 1970. "Philadelphia Chromosome in Acute Lymphocytic Leukemia." *Blood* 36 (3):353–60.
- Pui, Ching-Hon, William L. Carroll, Soheil Meshinchi, and Robert J. Arceci. 2011. "Biology, Risk Stratification, and Therapy of Pediatric Acute Leukemias: An Update." *Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 29 (5):551–65. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.30.7405.
- Pui, Ching-Hon, and William E. Evans. 2013. "A 50-Year Journey to Cure Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia." *Seminars in Hematology* 50 (3):185–96. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.seminhematol.2013.06.007.
- Ribera, Josep-Maria, Albert Ferrer, Jordi Ribera, and Eulàlia Genescà. 2015. "Profile of Blinatumomab and Its Potential in the Treatment of Relapsed/Refractory Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia." *OncoTargets and Therapy* 8:1567–74. https://doi.org/10.2147/OTT.S70524.
- Savoldo, Barbara, Carlos Almeida Ramos, Enli Liu, Martha P. Mims, Michael J. Keating, George Carrum, Rammurti T. Kamble, et al. 2011. "CD28 Costimulation Improves Expansion and Persistence of Chimeric Antigen Receptor-Modified T Cells in Lymphoma Patients." *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 121 (5):1822–26. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI46110.

- Schultz, Kirk R., W. Paul Bowman, Alexander Aledo, William B. Slayton, Harland Sather, Meenakshi Devidas, Chenguang Wang, et al. 2009. "Improved Early Event-Free Survival with Imatinib in Philadelphia Chromosome-Positive Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: A Children's Oncology Group Study." Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 27 (31):5175–81. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2008.21.2514.
- Shah, Nirali N., Maryalice Stetler-Stevenson, Constance M. Yuan, Haneen Shalabi, Bonnie Yates, Cindy Delbrook, Ling Zhang, et al. 2016. "Minimal Residual Disease Negative Complete Remissions Following Anti-CD22 Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) in Children and Young Adults with Relapsed/Refractory Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia (ALL)." Blood 128 (22):650–650.
- Sherborne, Amy L., Fay J. Hosking, Rashmi B. Prasad, Rajiv Kumar, Rolf Koehler, Jayaram Vijayakrishnan, Elli Papaemmanuil, et al. 2010. "Variation in CDKN2A at 9p21.3 Influences Childhood Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia Risk." *Nature Genetics* 42 (6):492–94. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.585.
- Stackelberg, Arend von, Franco Locatelli, Gerhard Zugmaier, Rupert Handgretinger, Tanya M. Trippett, Carmelo Rizzari, Peter Bader, et al. 2016. "Phase I/Phase II Study of Blinatumomab in Pediatric Patients With Relapsed/Refractory Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia." Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology 34 (36):4381–89. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2016.67.3301.
- Terwilliger, T., and M. Abdul-Hay. 2017. "Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia: A Comprehensive Review and 2017 Update." *Blood Cancer Journal* 7 (6):e577. https://doi.org/10.1038/bcj.2017.53.
- Topp, Max S., Nicola Gökbuget, Gerhard Zugmaier, Evelyn Degenhard, Marie-Elisabeth Goebeler, Matthias Klinger, Svenja A. Neumann, et al. 2012. "Long-Term Follow-up of Hematologic Relapse-Free Survival in a Phase 2 Study of Blinatumomab in Patients with MRD in B-Lineage ALL." *Blood* 120 (26):5185–87. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2012-07-441030.
- Topp, Max S., Nicola Gökbuget, Gerhard Zugmaier, Petra Klappers, Matthias Stelljes, Svenja Neumann, Andreas Viardot, et al. 2014. "Phase II Trial of the Anti-CD19 Bispecific T Cell-Engager Blinatumomab Shows Hematologic and Molecular Remissions in Patients with Relapsed or Refractory B-Precursor Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia." *Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology* 32 (36):4134–40. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2014.56.3247.
- Zhu, Min, Andrea Kratzer, Jessica Johnson, Chris Holland, Christian Brandl, Indrajeet Singh, Andreas Wolf, and Sameer Doshi. 2017. "Blinatumomab Pharmacodynamics and Exposure-Response Relationships in Relapsed/Refractory Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia." *Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, September. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcph.1006.
- Zoghbi, Annabelle, Udo zur Stadt, Beate Winkler, Ingo Müller, and Gabriele Escherich. 2017. "Lineage Switch under Blinatumomab Treatment of Relapsed Common Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia without MLL Rearrangement." *Pediatric Blood & Cancer* 64 (11):n/a-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.26594.
- Zugmaier, G., M. S. Topp, S. Alekar, A. Viardot, H.-A. Horst, S. Neumann, M. Stelljes, et al. 2014. "Long-Term Follow-up of Serum Immunoglobulin Levels in

Blinatumomab-Treated Patients with Minimal Residual Disease-Positive B-Precursor Acute Lymphoblastic Leukemia." *Blood Cancer Journal* 4 (September):244. https://doi.org/10.1038/bcj.2014.64.

Acknowledgements

First, I owe thanks to my parents, Hany and Mary Besada. Thank you for supporting my cross-country move to pursue my passion and for your unwavering encouragement when the trials of graduate school presented themselves. Through the challenges and triumphs, my classmates have also had a significant and invaluable presence. Thank you Alexandra Navarro, Saria McKeathen-Mead, Deepshikha Dogra, and Lorraine De Jesús Kim for pushing me forward and cheering me on. Thank you also to the members of the Hemann lab, who welcomed me and showed me how to do science well: Christian Braun, Simona Dalin, Luis Millan-Barea, Azucena Ramos, Yunpeng Liu, Faye-Marie Vassel, Silvia Fenoglio, and Jordan Bartlebaugh. I also owe a special thanks to Frank Solomon, a professor most dedicated to student welfare. Thank you for making yourself available, for listening well, and for pointing us in the right direction without giving away the answer. Finally, thank you to my advisor, Michael Hemann, and graduate director, Amy Keating, for their role in my experience at MIT.